### No. 46256-7-II

### THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### POTELCO, INC.,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

٧.

### DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES,

Defendant/Respondent.

### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

RIDDELL WILLIAMS P.S.

Skylar A. Sherwood, WSBA #31896 Josias Flynn, WSBA #44130 Attorneys for Appellant Potelco, Inc. 1001 Fourth Avenue Suite 4500 Seattle, WA 98154-1192 (206) 624-3600

Facsimile: (206) 389-1708

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION STATE OF WASHINGTON 3:54

DINSER SHARETON

## ORIGINAL

### **

### I. INTRODUCTION

Potelco, Inc. ("Potelco") is an electrical contractor that performs work on high-voltage power lines. Potelco's worksites are sometimes located near streets and throughways, and require flagging operations to control traffic. At these worksites, Potelco uses flaggers from third-party vendors, such as Labor Ready. This appeal addresses flagging operations at two Potelco worksites located in Kitsap County, Washington: one in Bremerton; and one on Bainbridge Island.

At the Bremerton worksite, Labor Ready flaggers set up a series of three advanced warning signs on the road adjacent to where Potelco was working. Based on the low-speed road conditions, the spacing between the signs provided drivers sufficient advanced notice of the flaggers and the worksite.

At the Bainbridge location, another contractor, Hoss Brothers, was working on the same street as Potelco. Hoss Brothers had set up a series of three advanced warning signs to notify drivers about the construction taking place on that street. Rather than flooding the area with work signs, Labor Ready flaggers set up enough additional signs to provide notice to drivers who might emerge from the few driveways between Hoss Bros. and Potelco's worksites.

The Department of Labor and Industries ("Department") issued Potelco citations under Washington's Industrial Safety and Health Act ("WISHA") in connection with these worksites. The Department alleges that (a) the sign spacing at Potelco's Bremerton worksite was not "appropriate," (b) a Labor Ready flagger stepped briefly into the lane of traffic at Potelco's Bremerton worksite, and (c) there were not enough advanced warning signs at Potelco's Bainbridge worksite.<sup>1</sup>

Potelco respectfully requests that the Court vacate the citations because the flagging operations complied with the relevant WISHA standards, given the conditions at each worksite. Potelco should not be held liable for the actions of Labor Ready's flaggers in any event because it did not control those flaggers and because Potelco would effectively face strict liability for the flaggers' actions.

### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Potelco respectfully asserts that the Superior Court erred in affirming Findings of Fact Nos. 2-3, and 12-13, and in adopting Conclusions of Law Nos. 2, 4, and 7-8 as set forth in the Board's Decision and Order, because these Findings of Fact were not supported by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The Department also alleged that Potelco did not have a traffic control plan at either worksite as required by WISHA. Those alleged violations were previously dismissed and are not the subject of this appeal.

substantial evidence and did not in turn support the Conclusions of Law.

Potelco also respectfully asserts that the Superior Court erred in granting statutory attorneys' fees to the Department as the prevailing party.

Specifically:

**Assignment of Error No. 1:** The Board erred in adopting Finding of Fact No. 2.

Statement of Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error No. 1:

Did the Board err in adopting Finding of Fact No. 2, when substantial evidence shows that Potelco's Bainbridge Worksite was preceded by a series of three advance warning signs in each direction of the worksite?

**Assignment of Error No. 2**: The Board erred in adopting Finding of Fact No. 3.

Statement of Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error No. 2:

Did the Board err by adopting Finding of Fact No. 3, when the substantial evidence fails to establish that Potelco's employees were exposed to a hazard of inadequate warning signs at Potelco's Bainbridge Worksite?

**Assignment of Error No. 3:** The Board erred in adopting Finding of Fact No. 12.

Statement of Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error No. 3:

Did the Board err by adopting Finding of Fact No. 12, when the substantial

evidence fails to establish that Potelco's employees were exposed to a hazard of being struck by passing vehicles at the Bremerton Worksite, when Potelco had a series of three advance warning signs preceding its worksite?

**Assignment of Error No. 4:** The Board erred in adopting Finding of Fact No. 13.

Statement of Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error No. 4:

Did the Board err by adopting Finding of Fact No. 13, when the substantial evidence fails to establish that Potelco's employees were exposed to a hazard of inadequate warning signs?

**Assignment of Error No. 5:** The Board erred in adopting the Conclusion of Law No. 2.

Statement of Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error No. 5: Did the Board err in adopting Conclusion of Law No. 2, when it is based on factual findings that are not supported by substantial evidence, and when the weight of the evidence shows that the citation was improperly issued and should be vacated?

**Assignment of Error No. 6:** The Board erred in adopting the Conclusion of Law No. 4.

Statement of Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error No. 6:

Did the Board err in adopting Conclusion of Law No. 4 when it is based on factual findings that are not supported by substantial evidence, and when the weight of the evidence shows that the citation was improperly issued and should be vacated?

**Assignment of Error No. 7:** The Board erred in adopting the Conclusion of Law No. 7.

Statement of Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error No. 7:

Did the Board err in adopting Conclusion of Law No. 7 when the weight of the evidence shows that the citation was improperly issued and should be vacated?

**Assignment of Error No. 8:** The Board erred in adopting the Conclusion of Law No. 8.

Statement of Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error No. 8:

Did the Board err in adopting Conclusion of Law No. 8, when the weight of the evidence shows that the citation was improperly issued and should be vacated?

### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Potelco performs work on power lines. (Certified Appeal Board Record ("CABR"), Transcript of Larry Hensley's Testimony, January 22,

2013 ("Hensley") at 74.) Sometimes, Potelco worksites require flagging operations. *Id.* at 75. For those worksites, Potelco contracts for flagging services with outside vendors, including Labor Ready. *Id.* Flaggers from these outside vendors are not Potelco employees. *Id.* 

When a flagging operation is needed, the relevant Potelco general foreman calls Labor Ready or another outside vendor to request flaggers. *Id.* Potelco relies on Labor Ready to provide trained, certified flaggers. *Id.* at 76. And Potelco relies on the flaggers to set up safe, WISHAcompliant flagging operations. Id. at 76-77. Potelco does not train, supervise, or manage Labor Ready's flaggers. *Id.* Instead, the flaggers have a supervisor at Labor Ready. *Id.* at 75. Labor Ready's supervisors maintain ultimate control over their flaggers, even when those flaggers are working at a Potelco worksite. Labor Ready's supervisors may enter Potelco worksites to monitor flaggers, and may give the flaggers instructions at Potelco worksites. Id. at 76. In contrast, Potelco does not tell the flaggers how to perform their specific flagging duties; nor does it tell flaggers where to stand or where to set up signs. *Id.* at 76, 79. The Potelco crew members are otherwise occupied and focused on doing their high voltage work, not supervising the flaggers. Id.

### 1. <u>Potelco's "Bainbridge Worksite" (relating to Citation No. 315249847)</u>

A Potelco crew led by foreman Larry Hensley was assigned to rebuild a power pole on October 11, 2011, on Bainbridge Island, WA. (Hensley at 43.) The pole was near the intersection of Winslow Way and Madison Avenue<sup>2</sup> ("the intersection"). *Id.* This job required Potelco to use a flagging operation. *Id.* at 44.

There was extensive and ongoing construction being conducted (of which Potelco was not a part) throughout the length of Winslow Way and on neighboring streets. Thus, at the same time Potelco was doing its work rebuilding a power pole, a general contractor, Hoss Brothers, was also working on Winslow Way, within a few blocks of the intersection and near Potelco's worksite, apparently conducting work relating to the ongoing construction project. *Id.* at 45. Hoss Brothers had been working up and down Winslow Way for the previous few months and on October 11, 2011, it was also using a flagging operation. *Id.* at 46. Accordingly, Hoss Brothers had set up a series of advance warning signs to alert drivers to the presence of its operation. *Id.* at 46.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Winslow Way runs east and west, while Madison Avenue runs north and south. (Hensley at 72.)

In particular, on Madison Avenue, north of the intersection, Hoss Brothers had set up four advance warning signs. *Id.* at 72. About a block south of the intersection on Madison Avenue, Hoss Brothers had set up three advance warning signs. *Id.* In addition, Hoss Brothers had also set up at least three signs east and west of the intersection on Winslow Way. *Id.* at 72-73. In other words, due to Hoss Brothers' existing signage, there were at least three advance warning signs on Winslow Way and Madison Avenue in all directions from the intersection and Potelco's worksite. (Hensley at 46, 72-73.) The speed limit on Madison Avenue and Winslow Way was 25 miles per hour. (CABR, Transcript of Amy Drapeau's Testimony, January 22, 2013 ("Drapeau") at 37.)

When Mr. Hensley arrived at the intersection on the morning of October 11, four Labor Ready flaggers were already on-site. *Id.* at 44. Mr. Hensley met with the flaggers to inform them where Potelco's jobsite would be set up. *Id.* at 47. He stated that there were at least three existing signs out in every direction from the intersection (referring to the Hoss Brothers signage). *Id.* He also asked the flaggers to erect additional signs for the benefit of any drivers who might emerge from the few driveways located between the intersection and the first Hoss Brothers sign, who would otherwise have no notice of the worksite. *Id.* 47-48. Aside from

this, Mr. Hensley relied on the flaggers to set up a proper flagging operation, based on Potelco's location and the work the Potelco crew would be doing. <sup>3</sup> *Id.* at 43, 48-49, 68. After meeting with the flaggers, Mr. Hensley and his crew set up its worksite and began rebuilding the power pole. *Id.* at 49.

Department Compliance Safety and Health Officer ("CSHO") Amy Drapeau received an anonymous referral about Potelco's worksite on Bainbridge Island. (Drapeau at 66.) According to the caller, there were some problems with the flaggers at that location. *Id.* Inspector Drapeau went to Potelco's worksite to investigate. *Id.* at 67. Inspector Drapeau did not find any problems with the flaggers, but she believed that the flagging operation lacked sufficient advance warning signs. *Id.* at 74. Inspector Drapeau approached Mr. Hensley, described her concern, and asked Mr. Hensley to erect additional signs. (Hensley at 49.) Inspector Drapeau, however, did not inform Mr. Hensley how many signs to erect or where to place those signs. *Id.* at 49-50. Nonetheless, Mr. Hensley complied with her request and the flaggers erected more signs. *Id.* at 50, 65.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Potelco crew members occasionally help flaggers set up signs for flagging operations as the signs and stands require a vehicle to transport. (Hensley at 48.) But even when a Potelco crew helps the flaggers, they still rely on the flaggers to determine how to set them up, which signs to use, and how many. *Id.* at 49.

Although Inspector Drapeau asserts that there were only two advance warning signs near the intersection—one on Winslow Way east of Potelco's worksite, and one on Winslow Way west of Potelco's worksite (Drapeau at 7)—she (and the Department) has no evidence to refute Mr. Hensley's testimony that Hoss Brothers had already set up sufficient signage in all directions from the intersection. Specifically, Inspector Drapeau could not recall how far she looked for signs in each direction from the intersection (Drapeau at 9-12), nor could she recall whether there were any other contractors working near the intersection (*id.* at 12). In fact, Hoss Brothers was indeed conducting work near this intersection and had set up the required number of advance warning signs. (Hensley at 45-46, 72-73.)

Based on Inspector Drapeau's investigation, the Department issued Potelco Citation No. 315249847, citing Potelco for an alleged repeat serious violation of WAC 296-155-305(8)(a) for allegedly failing to establish a series of three advance warning signs in each direction of Potelco's worksite from the intersection of Winslow Way and Madison Avenue ("Bainbridge Citation").<sup>4</sup>

\_\_\_\_\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The Department also cited Potelco for an alleged failure to have a traffic control plan onsite. The Board correctly vacated that citation because it was not supported by the evidence. (CABR at 38, 40.)

### 2. <u>Potelco's "Bremerton Worksite" (relating to Citation No. 315583005)</u>

Citation 315583005 relates to a different Potelco crew led by Mr. Hensley that was replacing a power line near 645 4<sup>th</sup> Street, in Bremerton, WA on December 21, 2011. (Hensley at 77-78.) Because the crew needed to park one of its work trucks in the lane of traffic on 4<sup>th</sup> Street to perform their work, they needed a flagging operation. *Id.* at 78. When Mr. Hensley arrived at the jobsite, flaggers from Labor Ready were already onsite. *Id.* Mr. Hensley discussed the day's work with the flaggers and what his crew would be doing that day, and requested that the flaggers set up an appropriate flagging operation. *Id.* at 77-79.

After learning where Potelco planned to work, Labor Ready's flaggers set up a flagging operation. (Hensley at 79.) The flaggers set up three advance warning signs. (CABR, Transcript of Jeremy Ketchum's Testimony. Jan. 22, 2013 ("Ketchum") at 6.) The distance between Potelco's worksite on 4<sup>th</sup> Street and the nearest cross street, Park Avenue, was relatively short, likely less than 150 feet. (Ketchum at 60). (CABR Hearing Transcript, Jan. 22, 2013, Exhibits ("CABR Exhibits") 1A, 7B.) The sign closest to Potelco's worksite ("sign 1") was a "flagger ahead" sign (CABR Exhibit 1A), which was located a short distance from Potelco's worksite. *Id.* The next warning sign ("sign 2") was placed

further away from the worksite, approximately 47 feet from the "flagger ahead" sign. (Ketchum at 60, CABR Exhibit 7B.) The final sign ("sign 3") was approximately 37 feet from sign 2. (CABR Exhibits 7B, 8.) Sign 3 was on 4<sup>th</sup> Street, directly next to the intersection with Park Ave. *Id.*One Labor Ready flagger positioned himself within a few feet of sign 1, presumably because of the space restrictions at the site. (Ketchum at 14, 55, CABR Exhibit 1A.) The Department effectively agreed that it was not practical to erect signs on 4<sup>th</sup> Street on the other side of the intersection from the worksite in order to achieve the required sign spacing established by WAC 296-155-305(8)(c), because parked cars that lined the sides of 4<sup>th</sup> Street would have obscured any signs that might have been placed along 4<sup>th</sup> Street. (Ketchum at 44-45: CABR Exhibit 7B.)

After Mr. Hensley's meeting with the flaggers, he met with his own crew in an alley near 4<sup>th</sup> Street for a pre-job safety meeting ("tailboard"). (Hensley at 79.) During the tailboard, Department Compliance Safety and Health Officer ("CSHO"), Jeremy Ketchum, observed the flaggers at Potelco's worksite. (Ketchum at 14, Hensley at 80.) Inspector Ketchum noticed the Labor Ready flagger standing in the roadway, very near the "flagger ahead" sign. (Ketchum at 14.) Inspector Ketchum subsequently approached Mr. Hensley to address his

observations. (Ketchum at 18, Hensley at 80.) At this time, Mr. Hensley's crew had not begun any work and Mr. Hensley had not returned to 4<sup>th</sup> street from the tailboard to observe the flaggers. (Hensley at 79-80.) Because of Inspector Ketchum's observations of the flaggers, Mr. Hensley decided to shut down the worksite and called the flaggers' supervisor at Labor Ready to report the flagging issues. *Id*.

Based on Inspector Ketchum's inspection, the Department issued Potelco Citation No. 315583005, which included the following alleged violations of WISHA:

- Violation 1-1 alleged a serious violation of WAC 296-155-305(8)(c) ("Bremerton Citation 1-1"), which generally requires 100 feet spacing between advance warning signs. Inspector Ketchum believed that Potelco violated this provision because a flagger was standing too close to the "flagger ahead" sign (sign 1).
- Violation 1-2 alleged a serious violation of WAC 296-155-305(9)(b) ("Bremerton Citation 1-2"), which requires flaggers to stand on the shoulder adjacent to the road user being controlled or in the closed lane prior to stopping road users. Inspector Ketchum believed that Potelco violated this provision because he observed the flaggers standing in the lane of traffic before road users had stopped.<sup>5</sup>

### B. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>The Department also cited Potelco for an alleged failure to have a traffic control plan onsite. The Board correctly vacated this citation because it was not supported by the evidence. (CABR at 40.)

Potelco appealed the Bainbridge and Bremerton Citations to the Board on April 12, 2012 (CABR at 54-55, 179-180). The Board consolidated both appeals, and a hearing was held at the Board's Seattle office before Judge Steven Straume on January 22, 2013. (CABR at 74, Transcript of Judge Straume's Opening Statement, January 22, 2013 at 3.) Judge Straume issued a Proposed Decision and Order on April 15, 2013, affirming the Citations as modified. (CABR at 25-41.) Potelco filed a timely Petition for Review. (CABR at 3-21.) On May 20, 2013, the Board denied Potelco's Petition for Review and adopted Judge Straume's Proposed Decision and Order as the Board's final Decision and Order. (CABR at 1.) On June 19, 2013, Potelco appealed the Board's Decision and Order to the Kitsap County Superior Court. (Potelco, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor and Indus., Kitsap County Cause No. 13-2-01367-5, Notice of Appeal to Superior Court (filed 6/20/2013)). On April 17, 2014, Judge Jennifer Forbes entered a memorandum order affirming the Board's Decision and Order. (Clerk's Papers ("CP") at 67-80.) 6 Potelco timely appealed to this Court on May 14, 2014. (Potelco, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>On June 27, 2014, Judge Forbes signed a judgment and order summarizing her memorandum order. (*Potelco, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor and Indus.*, Kitsap County Cause No. 13-2-01367-5, Judgment (entered 6/27/2014)), which was entered after Potelco filed its designation of clerks papers on June 16, 2014 (CP at 81-83).

and Indus., Kitsap County Cause No. 13-2-01367-5, Notice of Appeal to Washington State Court of Appeals, Division II (filed 5/16/2014)).

### IV. ARGUMENT

#### A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing Board rulings, this Court sits in the same position as the Superior Court and reviews the Board's decision directly. *Dep't of Labor and Indus. v. Tyson Foods, Inc.*, 143 Wn. App. 576, 581, 178 P.3d 1070 (2008); *J.E. Dunn Nw.. Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 139 Wn. App. 35, 42, 156 P.3d 250 (2007)). The Board's findings must be supported by substantial evidence when considering the record as a whole. RCW 49.17.150(1). Substantial evidence is evidence sufficient to persuade a fair-minded, rational person that a finding is true. *Martinez Melgoza & Assoc.. Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 125 Wn. App. 843, 847-48, 106 P.3d 776 (2005). Conclusions of law must be appropriate based on the factual findings. RCW 49.17.150; *Martinez Melgoza*, 125 Wn. App. at 847-48. Courts review questions of law, such as the Board's interpretation of a statute, de novo. *Stuckey v. Dep't of Labor and Indus.*, 129 Wn.2d 289, 295, 916 P.2d 399 (1996).

### B. <u>ADVANCED WARNING SIGNS WERE PROPERLY</u> <u>SPACED AT POTELCO'S BREMERTON WORKSITE</u>

WAC 296-155-305(8)(c) sets forth the required spacing for advanced warning signs. For urban streets with a speed limit of 25 mph or less, there must be at least 100 feet between warning signs. WAC 296-155-305(8)(c). While a drawing within WAC 296-155-305(8)(c) arguably suggests that the first warning sign should be 100 feet from the flagger, the actual text of the regulation states that the spacing between warning signs may be adjusted to fit roadway conditions. Even then, WAC 296-155-305(8)(c) provides no specific guidance on how sign spacing may be adjusted if roadway conditions warrant it. *See* WAC 296-155-305(8)(c).

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