COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

POTELCO, INC.,

Appellant,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

JAMES P. MILLS Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 36978 Office of Attorney General 1250 Pacific Avenue, Suite 105 PO Box 2317 Tacoma, WA 98401

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

V. ARGUMENT

Substantial evidence supports the Board's findings that Potelco allowed its flaggers to work in the roadway and to work without adequate spacing at the Bremerton worksite, and to work without the required three advance warning signs in each direction at the Bainbridge Island worksite. Potelco's constitutional challenge to the advance warning sign regulation is without merit as Potelco cannot dispute it violated the regulation by allowing its worker to stand next to the sign under any reading of the regulation.

Although the flaggers were temporary employees of Labor Ready, WISHA places responsibility upon Potelco for safety on its worksite. Substantial evidence also supports that Potelco was a secondary employer responsible for violations on its worksite as shown by its control of the worksite, its control of the workers, and by other factors under the applicable economic realities test.

A. Potelco Violated WAC 296-155-305 by Failing to Follow the Flagging Requirements at Two Separate Worksites

The Board's decision should be affirmed because Potelco violated provisions of WAC 296-155-305 by allowing a flagger to work in a road way and by not placing the warning signs in accordance with the regulation. The Department cited Potelco for committing serious

violations of WISHA under RCW 49.17.180. Potelco argues that it did not violate the regulations or expose its employees to the hazards protected against in the regulations. App. Br. 2-5.³ There are three violations at issue, two at the Bremerton worksite and one at the Bainbridge Island worksite.

1. Potelco Violated WAC 296-155-305(9)(b) Because It Allowed a Flagger to Stand in the Lane of Traffic Before Vehicles Had Stopped at the Bremerton Worksite

For the Bremerton worksite, the industrial appeals judge found that a flagger was working in the roadway and was exposed to the hazard of passing vehicles. FF 12, 13, 18.⁴ Substantial evidence supports Findings of Fact 12, 13, and 18, and in turn supports the conclusion that Potelco violated WAC 296-155-305(9)(b).

³ Potelco does not claim that the Department did not prove other elements of its prima facie case. To make a prima facie case of a serious violation of a specific rule under WISHA, the Department bears the initial burden of proving the following elements:

⁽¹⁾ the cited standard applies; (2) the requirements of the standard were not met; (3) employees were exposed to, or had access to, the violative condition; (4) the employer knew or, through the exercise of reasonable diligence, could have known of the violative condition; and (5) there is a substantial probability that death or serious physical harm could result from the violative condition.

J.E. Dunn NW, Inc., 139 Wn. App. at 44-45 (internal quotation omitted).

⁴ Potelco has not assigned error to Finding of Fact 18. Because the industrial appeals judge found that a flagger was working in the roadway and was exposed to the hazard of passing vehicles, arguably it therefore is a verity on appeal that Potelco violated WAC 296-155-305(9)(b). See Mid Mountain Contractors, Inc., 136 Wn. App. at 4. In any case, as shown herein, substantial evidence supports the conclusion that Potelco violated WAC 296-155-305(9)(b).

WAC 296-155-305(9)(b) prohibits flaggers from working in the roadway with moving traffic, it provides that:

Employers, responsible contractors and/or project owners must make sure that . . . [f]laggers stand either on the shoulder adjacent to the road user being controlled or in the closed lane prior to stopping road users. A flagger must only stand in the lane being used by moving road users after road users have stopped.

WAC 296-155-305(9)(b).

Although Potelco assigns error to Findings of Fact 12 and 13, it ignores the evidence of the worker in the road, apparently believing that three warning signs, if present, would have cured the violation. App. Br. 4. But WAC 296-155-305(9)(b) is a separate requirement for the advance warning system and must be complied with. Potelco presents no argument to refute Inspector Ketchum's uncontested testimony that when the inspectors visited Potelco's Bremerton worksite for the inspection, they saw a flagger standing in the roadway directly beside the advanced warning sign for flaggers. BR Ketchum 14, 18. Photographs also show the flagger standing in the roadway directly beside the advanced warning sign. BR Ketchum 19, 27, 30; BR 103; Exs. 1A, 2B, 3B, 4B. The photographs show the flagger performing his duties from that position—switching between "slow" and "stop." *Compare* Exs. 1A, 2B, 3, and 4B. Potelco does not present argument on this violation, but asks in its

conclusion that the citations be vacated. App. Br. 29. Given the lack of argument in its appellant's brief, it has waived any such argument in its reply. *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992). In any case, substantial evidence supports FF 12, 13, and 18, which in turn supports CL 4 and 8. Potelco violated this regulation when it allowed a flagger to stand in the lane of traffic before road users had stopped.

2. Potelco Violated WAC 296-155-305(8)(a) by Failing to Ensure Advanced Warning Signs Were Placed With Adequate Spacing Before the Flaggers at the Bremerton Worksite

For the Bremerton worksite, the Board found that Potelco failed to ensure adequate spacing between the flagger directing traffic on its worksite and the advanced warning sign meant to warn drivers of his presence BR 12; FF 12. Substantial evidence supports this finding. Potelco violated WAC 296-155-305(8)(a) when its flagger was standing directly next to the third of three required *advance* warning signs rather than 100 feet or a distance justified by the road conditions. The Board's decision should be affirmed because Potelco violated the rule regarding the placement of signs in relation to the flagger meant to warn drivers that a flagger was present before motorists actually reached the flagger.

WAC 296-155-305(8)(c) requires employers to provide flagging under the Advance Warning Sign Spacing table (Table 1). WAC 296-155-305(8)(c). The codes provide for a minimum distance of 100 feet. *Id.* This distance may be reduced in urban areas if required to meet roadway conditions. *Id.* The worker was standing directly beside the third sign. BR Ketchum 54-56.

The purpose of this is to protect flaggers from on-coming drivers by alerting the drivers to the upcoming flagging operation:

The Department's construction of WAC 296–155–305(8)(a) requires employers to place a three sign advance warning sequence in a manner that alerts drivers approaching the work site from all directions of an upcoming flagging operation. This interpretation of the regulation is plausible and consistent with the legislative intent to provide safe working conditions.

Potelco, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 166 Wn. App. 647, 654, 272 P.3d 262 (2012) (emphasis added). Failing to have any distance between the last sign before the flagger and the flagger, fails to notify drivers of an *upcoming* flagger. Potelco argues that the flagger set up the three advance warning signs consistent with WAC 296-155-305(8)(c) because due to road conditions, ("the length of the roadway on 4th Street between the jobsite and Park Ave."), there was not enough space to allow for 100 feet between each sign and the flagger. App. Br. 16. This analysis overlooks the undisputed fact that the flagger was standing directly beside the sign.

BR Ketchum 54-56. Inspector Ketchum agreed that roadway conditions could justify reducing the 100-foot spacing requirement between signs. BR Ketchum 44-45. However, "zero is [not] an appropriate reduction in this case." BR Ketchum 53.⁵ To the extent that WAC 296-155-305(8)(a) is ambiguous about the reduced spacing allowed by road conditions, the Department's interpretation that the spacing cannot be "zero" is entitled to deference. *See Potelco*, 166 Wn. App. at 654; *Laser Underground*, 132 Wn. App. at 278.⁶ Such an approach best advances worker safety and the Court should adopt this approach consistent with the liberal construction of WISHA. *See Elder Demolition, Inc.*, 149 Wn. App. at 806; RCW 49.17.010.

Potelco essentially argues that because of roadway conditions, it could not have set up a three-sign sequence with sufficient distance to be effective because the distance between the work site and the intersection

⁵ Potelco says that the inspector's testimony changed on this point. App Br. 18-19. But any purported contradictions in testimony are for the fact-finder to weigh, which the Court of Appeals does not second guess. See Venezelos v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 67 Wn.2d 71, 73, 406 P.2d 603 (1965); see also Matter of Marriage of Sedlock, 69 Wn. App. 484, 497-98, 849 P.2d 1243 (1993).

⁶ Potelco points to the Federal Highway Administration's Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD), which provides guidelines and recommendations for temporary traffic control. *See* WAC 296-155-305. It does not aide Potelco because the language of §6C.04 does not suggest that the recommended distance should be reduced to zero. *Contra* App. Br. 17, n. 7, citing §6C.04 ("The distances contained in Table 6C-1 are approximate, are intended for guidance purposes only, and should be applied with engineering judgment. These distances may be adjusted for field conditions, if necessary by increasing or decreasing the recommended distances."). Indeed, MUTCD §6F.31 reads: "The Flagger (W20-7) symbol sign . . . should be used in *advance* of any point where a flagger is stationed to control road users." (Emphasis added).

was too short. App. Br. at 16-17. But infeasibility is an affirmative defense, *Washington Cedar & Supply Co., Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 137 Wn. App. 592, 604, 154 P.3d 287 (2007), which Potelco did not raise in this case. Moreover, Inspector Ketchum testified that they were able to comply with the regulation by moving the sign some distance away from the worker. BR Ketchum 45. Potelco was able to abate the hazard by moving the signs, but ultimately decided to shut down the worksite. BR Hensley 82. Substantial evidence supports finding that there was inadequate spacing when there was zero spacing.

3. Potelco Violated WAC 296-155-305(8)(a) Because It Failed to Ensure That There Were Three Advance Warning Signs for the Flaggers in Each Direction at the Bainbridge Island Worksite

For the Bainbridge Island worksite, the Board found that Potelco failed to place the required three advance warning signs to warn drivers of the upcoming flagger. BR 13. This is supported by substantial evidence. Potelco cannot rely on warning signs set up for other worksites when substantial evidence supports the conclusion that there were not signs close enough to the worksite to satisfy the requirements of WAC 296-155-305(8)(a).

Employers must provide "[a] three sign advance warning sequence on all roadways with a speed limit below 45 mph."

Inspector Drapeau testified that Potelco WAC 296-155-305(8)(a). violated this provision because there was only one advance warning sign in each direction on Winslow Way and there were no advance warning signs in either direction on Madison Avenue. BR Drapeau 74-75; BR Drapeau 6-7, 11. Inspector Drapeau also observed flaggers and other workers working on the Potelco worksite. BR Drapeau II 14. Although Potelco claims to have relied on another contractor's warning signs several blocks away at another worksite, Drapeau's testimony and the photos taken on the worksite show that any purported signs were not visible in the proximity to the worksite. BR Drapeau 73-75; BR Drapeau II 6-7; Exs. 9A, 9B, 10B, 11A, and 13A. This is not a case where the area was "clogged" or "flooded" with signs as Potelco asserts. See App. Br. 1, 20. Rather per the testimony of the inspector there were not an adequate number of signs for the specific Potelco worksite.

Nonetheless Potelco argues that that the signs were close enough to suffice for its worksite. App. Br. 20. It points to testimony that the signs were on Winslow Way and Madison Avenue in all directions from the intersection and Potelco's worksite. App. Br. 8, 20. This argument asks this Court to reject Inspector Drapeau's testimony and accept Hensley's testimony. But the court does not reweigh the evidence under the

⁷ Employers must reflect the actual condition of work zone and must be taken down or covered when work is not ongoing. WAC 296-155-305(8)(a).

substantial evidence standard of review, but rather views the evidence in the light most favorable to the prevailing party. *Raum*, 171 Wn. App. at 151; *Frank Coluccio Const. Co. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 181 Wn. App. 25, 35, 329 P.3d 91 (2014). The citation is supported by substantial evidence that the signs were not close enough to the flagger to comply with the spacing requirements of WAC 296-155-305(8)(a).

B. WAC 296-155-305(8)(c) Is Not Unconstitutionally Vague as Applied to Enforcement of the Bremerton Work Site Simply Because It Allows Employers the Flexibility to Address Road Conditions in an Urban Setting

Potelco fails to meet its burden to establish that WAC 296-155-305(8)(c) is unconstitutionally vague when the regulation allows employers to reduce the distance between the three advance warning signs and the flagging station when necessary to address road conditions.

A party who challenges a rule's constitutionality for vagueness—here Potelco—bears the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that it is unconstitutionally vague. *See State v. Watson*, 160 Wn.2d 1, 11, 154 P.3d 909 (2007). A law is unconstitutional when it forbids conduct in terms so vague that persons of common intelligence must guess at its meaning and differ as to its application. *City of Bremerton v. Spears*, 134 Wn.2d 141, 161, 949 P.2d 347 (1998).

Potelco may not assert a facial challenge here because the court evaluates vagueness challenges by inspecting the actual conduct of the party who challenges the rule and not by examining hypothetical situations at the periphery of the rule's scope. See Weden v. San Juan County, 135 Wn.2d 678, 708, 958 P.2d 273 (1998); Halliburton Energy Services v. State, Dep't of Labor, 2 P.3d 41, 50 (Alaska 2000). A party who engages in some conduct that is clearly proscribed cannot complain of the vagueness of the law as applied to the conduct of others. See State v. Immelt, 173 Wn.2d 1, 29-30, 267 P.3d 305 (2011); see also City of Kennewick v. Henricks, 84 Wn. App. 323, 326, 927 P.2d 1143 (1996) ("[T]here are statutes which contain both precisely worded prohibitions and prohibitions of uncertain application, and such statute, though potentially vague as to some conduct, may nevertheless be constitutionally applied to one whose act clearly falls within the statute's 'hard core." (citations omitted)). Here, Potelco cannot complain that the rule was ambiguous as to its conduct because its flagger was standing directly next to the warning sign. BR Ketchum 14, 18, 19, 27, 30; Exs. 1A, 2B, 3B, 4B. Under the plain language of the regulation, Potelco must provide a "three sign advance warning sequence on all roadways with a speed limit below

⁸ Facial challenges for vagueness are reserved to enactments that the parties allege involve first amendment violations. *See Weden*, 135 Wn.2d at 708. Potelco has not raised such a challenge here.

45 mph." WAC 296-155-305 (emphasis added); *see contra* App. Br. 18 (claiming the Department has not identified a source providing guidance to employers). The sign must be in advance. Potelco failed to provide *any* distance between the third warning sign and the flagger it was meant to protect and did not advise motorists that he would be present and that was the basis for the Board's findings. *See* FF 12, 18; BR Ketchum 53 ("[t]he Code does not specifically give an absolute minimum. It states minimum 100 feet. The distance may be reduced in urban areas if required. However, I did not feel that zero is an appropriate reduction in this case."). A person of common intelligence would understand from the WAC 296-155-305 that *advance* warning must be provided.

Moreover, a rule is not simply void because it fails to address every conceivable circumstance raised by an appellant. *See Keene v. Board of Accountancy*, 77 Wn. App. 849, 855, 894 P.2d 582 (1995) ("It is true that [the regulation] does not attempt to list all behaviors which, if engaged in concurrently, would impair independence or objectivity. However, the rule is not void simply because it does not list every possible prohibited behavior."). WAC 296-155-305 provides a detailed table explaining the spacing requirements, but provides an alternative when the

⁹ Potelco claims that the inspector's testimony did not explain the appropriate distance to be applied under WAC 296-155-305(8)(c). App. Br. at 18. But this ignores that the inspector specifically testified that "zero is [not] an appropriate reduction." BR Ketchum 53.

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